
 

 

For all enquiries relating to this agenda please contact Sharon Hughes 
 (Tel: 01443 864281   Email: hughesj@caerphilly.gov.uk) 

 
Date: 8th August 2023 

 
To Whom It May Concern, 
 
A multi-locational meeting of the Planning Committee will be held in the Council Chamber, Penallta 
House, and via Microsoft Teams on Wednesday, 16th August, 2023 at 5.00 pm to consider the matters 
contained in the following agenda.  You are welcome to use Welsh at the meeting, a minimum notice 
period of 3 working days is required should you wish to do so.  A simultaneous translation will be provided 
on request.  
 
Members of the public or Press may attend in person at Penallta House or may view the meeting live via 
the following link: https://civico.net/caerphilly   
 
 

This meeting will be live-streamed and a recording made available to view via the Council’s website, 
except for discussions involving confidential or exempt items.  Therefore the images/audio of those 
individuals present and/or speaking at Planning Committee will be publicly available to all via the 

recording on the Council website.  
 

 
Interested parties may make a request to speak in regard to any item on this agenda. To obtain further 
details on this process please contact the Committee Clerk hughesj@caerphilly.gov.uk.   
 
 

Yours faithfully, 

 
Christina Harrhy 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 
 

A G E N D A 
 

Public Document Pack

https://civico.net/caerphilly
https://civico.net/caerphilly
mailto:hughesj@caerphilly.gov.uk


Pages 
  

1  To receive apologies for absence. 
  

 
2  Declarations of Interest. 

  
Councillors and Officers are reminded of their personal responsibility to declare any personal 
and/or prejudicial interest(s) in respect of any item of business on this agenda in accordance 
with the Local Government Act 2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Code of Conduct for 
both Councillors and Officers. 

 
 
To approve and sign the following minutes: -  
 
3  Planning Committee held on 12th July 2023. 

1 - 8  
 

To receive and consider the following report(s): -  
 
4  Application No. 22/0072/FULL - Land At Grid Ref 311809 189556, Windsor Way, Abertridwr. 

9 - 30  
 

 
Circulation: 
Councillors M.A. Adams, Mrs E.M. Aldworth (Vice Chair), A. Angel, R. Chapman, N. Dix, G. Ead, 
J.E. Fussell, A. Hussey, B. Miles, M. Powell, R. Saralis (Chair), J. Simmonds, J. Taylor, S. Williams, 
A. Whitcombe and K. Woodland 
 
And Appropriate Officers 
 
HOW WE WILL USE YOUR INFORMATION 

Those individuals that attend committee meetings to speak/give evidence will be named in the minutes of that meeting, 
sometimes this will include their place of employment or business and opinions expressed.  Minutes of Meetings including details 
of speakers will be publicly available to all via the Council website at www.caerphilly.gov.uk. except for discussions involving 
confidential or exempt items. 
 

You have a number of rights in relation to your information, including the rights of access to information we hold about you and 
the right of complaint if you are unhappy with the way your information is being processed. 
For further information on how we process your information and your rights please view the Full Committee Meetings Privacy 

Notice on our website or contact Legal Services by email griffd2@caerphilly.gov.uk or telephone 01443 863028. 

 
 

http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/Committee/Privacy
http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/Committee/Privacy
mailto:griffd2@caerphilly.gov.uk


 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

MINUTES OF THE MULTI-LOCATIONAL MEETING HELD AT PENALLTA HOUSE  
AND VIA MICROSOFT TEAMS ON WEDNESDAY, 12TH JULY 2023  

AT 5:00 PM 
 
 

PRESENT: 
 

Councillor R. Saralis – Chair 
Councillor Mrs E. M. Aldworth – Vice Chair 

 
 

Councillors: 
 

Councillors:  M. A. Adams, R. Chapman, N. Dix, G. Ead, J. Fussell, A. Hussey, D. Ingram-
Jones, M. Powell, J. Taylor, S. Williams, A. Whitcombe and K. Woodland. 
 
Cabinet Member: Councillor P. Leonard (Planning and Public Protection). 

 
 

Together with: 
 

V. Julian (Senior Lawyer), R. Kyte (Head of Regeneration and Planning), R. Thomas 
(Planning Services Manager), C. Powell (Team Leader Development Management), E. 
Rowley (Principal Planner), L. Cooper (Assistant Engineer), J. Hobbs (Senior Engineer), 
C. Campbell (Transportation Engineering Manager), R. Edmunds (Corporate Director for 
Education and Corporate Services), S. Richards (Head of Education Planning and 
Strategy), A. West (21st Century Schools Manager), L. Thomas (21st Century Schools - 
Principal Officer), J. Harding (Client Manager), B. Winstanley (Head of Land and Property 
Services) and S. Hughes (Committee Services Officer).  
 
 

Also present to speak on applications: 
 
Agenda Item 5 – Councillor M. James (Local Ward Member) and Councillor C. Andrews 
(Cabinet Member for Education and Communities). 
 

 
RECORDING, FILMING AND VOTING ARRANGEMENTS 

 
The Chair reminded those present that the meeting was being live-streamed and a 
recording made available to view via the Council’s website, except for discussions 
involving confidential or exempt items – Click Here to View.  Members were advised that 
voting on decisions would be taken via Microsoft Forms.   

 
 
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor A. Angel and B. Miles. 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3

https://civico.net/caerphilly


 
2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
  

C. Powell (Team Leader Development Management) declared an interest in Application 
No. 23/0315/LA - Trinity Fields School And Resource Centre, Caerphilly Road, Ystrad 
Mynach, Hengoed, CF82 7XW, as a family member works at Trinity Fields School and 
Resource Centre.  He left the meeting whilst the application was discussed.  Details are 
also minuted with the respective item. 

 
 

3. PLANNING COMMITTEE HELD ON 14TH JUNE 2023  
 

It was moved and seconded that the minutes of the Planning Committee meeting held on 
the 14th June 2023 be agreed as a correct record.  By way of Microsoft Forms and verbal 
confirmation (and in noting there were 13 for, 0 against and 1 abstention) this was agreed 
by the majority present. 

 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the Planning Committee meeting held on  
14th June 2023 (minute nos. 1-6) be approved as a correct record. 
 
 

The Planning Committee considered the applications in the order recorded below. 
 

5. APPLICATION NO. 23/0315/LA - TRINITY FIELDS SCHOOL AND RESOURCE 
CENTRE, CAERPHILLY ROAD, YSTRAD MYNACH, HENGOED, CF82 7XW  

 
C. Powell (Team Leader Development Management) declared an interest as a family 
member works at Trinity Fields School and Resource Centre.  He left the meeting whilst 
the application was discussed. 

 
The Planning Case Officer presented the application, with it confirmed in the 
accompanying report that the recommendation in respect of the proposal had taken full 
account of, and was in conformity with, both Future Wales and Planning Policy Wales 
Edition 11.   
 
Councillor M. James (Local Ward Member) spoke in objection to the application and 
Councillor C. Andrews (Cabinet Member for Education and Communities) spoke in 
support of the application. 
 
Following consideration of the application it was moved and seconded that subject to an 
additional Condition (11), an amendment to Condition (03) and the conditions contained in 
the Officer’s report, the recommendation be approved.  By way of Microsoft Forms (and in 
noting there were 14 for, 0 against and 0 abstentions) this was unanimously agreed. 
 

RESOLVED that: - 
 
(i) Subject to the additional Condition (11), an amendment to Condition (03) 

and the conditions contained in the Officer’s report, the application be 
GRANTED.   
 
Additional Condition (11) – School Traffic Management Plan 

 
Prior to occupation of the development hereby approved a School Traffic 
Management Plan shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority and thereafter implemented in accordance with any 
proposals and timescales contained therein unless otherwise agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

Page 2



The School Traffic Management Plan shall set out in detail management 
proposals to ensure waiting times for idling vehicles during collection and 
drop off are reduced to a minimum. 

 
REASON: To ensure that any waiting vehicles do not lead to queues onto 
the adopted highway in the interests of highway safety in accordance with 
policy CW3 of the adopted Caerphilly County Borough Local Development 
Plan up to 2021. 
 
Amended Condition (03) 

 
All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with 
the approved details. The works shall be carried out prior to the occupation 
of any part of the development or in accordance with a programme agreed 
in writing with the Local Planning Authority. Should any translocated trees 
die during the construction phase or any trees or plants which within a period 
of 5 years from the completion of the development die, are removed or 
become seriously damaged or diseased, they shall be replaced in the next 
planting season with others of an equivalent number and species, unless the 
Local Planning Authority gives written consent to any variation. 

 
REASON: To ensure that the works are carried out as approved in the 
interests of the visual amenity of the area in accordance with policies CW2 
and SP6 of the adopted Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan 
up to 2021. 
 

(ii) The applicant be advised that the proposed development lies within a coal 
mining area which may contain unrecorded coal mining related hazards. If 
any coal mining feature is encountered during development, this should be 
reported immediately to the Coal Authority on 0345 762 6848.  

 
Further information is also available on the Coal Authority Website. 
 

(iii) The applicant be advised that mature trees are potential bat roosts. All bat 
species and their roosts are protected by the Conservation of Habitats and 
Species Regulations 2010 and its amendment 2012, which transposes the 
EC Habitats Directive 1992 into UK legislation, and the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981. If bats are discovered, then all works should stop 
immediately and the Countryside Council for Wales should be contacted 
for advice on any special precautions, and whether a licence is required, 
before continuing. 
 

(iv) The applicant be advised that works should not take place that will disturb 
nesting birds from March to July inclusive. All British birds (while nesting, 
building nests and sitting on eggs), their nests and eggs (with certain 
limited exceptions) are protected by law under Section 1 of the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and the Countryside and Rights of 
Way Act 2000. If birds are nesting on/in or within the vicinity of the 
proposed development, work should be undertaken outside the breeding 
season for birds to ensure their protection, i.e. works should only be 
undertaken between August and February. Further advice on the above 
can be sought from the local authority ecologists (01495 235253) or 
Natural Resources Wales (NRW) (029 20 772400). 

 
(v) The applicant be advised to refer to Public Access to view the full 

comments of the consultees that are brought to the applicant's attention. 
 

Page 3

http://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/the-coal-authority


(vi) The applicant be advised: 
WARNING 
The applicant is advised that any future planned works to the roof space of 
the existing school building will require a European protected species 
(EPS) Licence. 
 
It is an offence to deliberately capture, kill or disturb EPS or to recklessly 
damage or destroy their breeding sites or resting places. If found guilty of 
any offences, you could be sent to prison for up to 6 months and/or receive 
an unlimited fine. 
 
To undertake the works within the law, you can obtain further information on 
the need for a licence from Natural Resources Wales on 0300 065 3000 or 
at Natural Resources Wales Website. 

 
(vii) The applicant be advised: 

NOTIFICATION OF INITIATION OF DEVELOPMENT AND DISPLAY OF 
NOTICE:  
You must comply with your duties in section 71ZB (notification of initiation 
of development and display of notice: Wales) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. The duties include:  

 
Notice of initiation of development:  
Before beginning any development to which this planning permission 
relates, notice must be given to the local planning authority in the form set 
out in Schedule 5A to the town and Country Planning (development 
Management procedure) (Wales) Order 2012 or in a form substantially to 
the like effect. The form sets out the details which must be given to the 
local planning authority to comply with this duty.  

 
Display of Notice:  
The person carrying out the development to which this planning permission 
relates must display at or near the place where the development is being 
carried out, at all times when it is being carried out, a notice of this 
planning permission in the form set out in Schedule 5B to the Town and 
country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (Wales) Order 
2012 or in a form substantially to the like effect. The form sets out the 
details the person carrying out development must display to comply with 
this duty.  
 
The person carrying out the development must ensure the notice is:  
(a) Firmly affixed and displayed in a prominent place at or near the place 
where the development is being carried out;  
(b) Legible and easily visible to the public without having to enter the site; 
and  
(c) Printed on durable material. The person carrying out development 
should take reasonable steps to protect the notice (against it being 
removed, obscured or defaced) and, if need be, replace it. 
 

  (viii)  The applicant be advised: 
   WARNING: 

SUSTAINABLE DRAINAGE APPROVAL IS REQUIRED PRIOR TO 
COMMENCEMENT OF THIS DEVELOPMENT. 

 
Please note from the 7th January 2019, Schedule 3 of the Flood and Water 
Management Act 2010 commenced in Wales requiring all new 
developments of more than one house or where the construction area is of 

Page 4

https://naturalresources.wales/conservation-biodiversity-and-wildlife/european-protected-species/?lang+en


100m2 or more to implement sustainable drainage to manage on-site 
surface water. Surface water drainage systems must be designed and built 
in accordance with mandatory standards for sustainable drainage 
published by Welsh Ministers. 
 
The Sustainable Drainage Approval process is a technical approval 
independent of the need to obtain planning permission, and as such you 
are advised to contact the Sustainable Drainage Approval Body. Their 
details are provided below: 
 
Phone: 01443 866511 
Email: drainage@caerphilly.gov.uk 
Website: www.caerphilly.gov.uk/sab 

 
 
4.  APPLICATION NO. 22/1057/FULL - UNIT 2 OAKWOOD CLOSE, PEN-Y-FAN 

INDUSTRIAL ESTATE, PEN-Y-FAN, NEWPORT  
 

The Planning Case Officer presented the application, with it confirmed in the 
accompanying report that the recommendation in respect of the proposal had taken full 
account of, and was in conformity with, both Future Wales and Planning Policy Wales 
Edition 11.   

 
Following consideration of the application it was moved and seconded that, subject to the 
conditions contained in the Officer’s report, the recommendation be approved.  By way of 
Microsoft Forms (and in noting there were 14 for, 0 against and 0 abstentions) this was 
unanimously agreed. 

 
RESOLVED that: - 
 
(i) Subject to the conditions contained in the Officer’s report, the application 

be GRANTED. 
 

(ii) The applicant be advised that the proposed development lies within a coal 
mining area which may contain unrecorded coal mining related hazards. If 
any coal mining feature is encountered during development, this should be 
reported immediately to the Coal Authority on 0345 762 6848.  

 
Further information is also available on the Coal Authority Website. 

  
(iii)  The applicant be advised to refer to Public Access to view the full 

comments of the consultees that are brought to the applicant's attention. 
 

(iv) The applicant be advised that Mature trees are potential bat roosts. All bat 
species and their roosts are protected by the Conservation of Habitats and 
Species Regulations 2010 and its amendment 2012, which transposes the 
EC Habitats Directive 1992 into UK legislation, and the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981. If bats are discovered, then all works should stop 
immediately and the Countryside Council for Wales should be contacted 
for advice on any special precautions, and whether a licence is required, 
before continuing. 
 

(v) The applicant also be advised that works should not take place that will 
disturb nesting birds from March to July inclusive. All British birds (while 
nesting, building nests and sitting on eggs), their nests and eggs (with 
certain limited exceptions) are protected by law under Section 1 of the 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and the Countryside and 

Page 5

http://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/the-coal-authority


Rights of Way Act 2000. If birds are nesting on/in or within the vicinity of 
the proposed development, work should be undertaken outside the 
breeding season for birds to ensure their protection, i.e., works should only 
be undertaken between August and February. Further advice on the above 
can be sought from the local authority ecologists (01495 235253) or 
Natural Resources Wales (NRW) (029 20 772400). 

 
(vi) The applicant be advised: 

WARNING:  
SUSTAINABLE DRAINAGE APPROVAL IS REQUIRED PRIOR TO 
COMMENCEMENT OF THIS DEVELOPMENT.  
 
Please note from the 7th January 2019, Schedule 3 of the Flood and Water 
Management Act 2010 commenced in Wales requiring all new 
developments of more than one house or where the construction area is of 
100m2 or more to implement sustainable drainage to manage on-site 
surface water. Surface water drainage systems must be designed and built 
in accordance with mandatory standards for sustainable drainage 
published by Welsh Ministers.  
 
The Sustainable Drainage Approval process is a technical approval 
independent of the need to obtain planning permission, and as such you 
are advised to contact the Sustainable Drainage Approval Body. Their 
details are provided below:  

 
Phone: 01443 866511  
Email: drainage@caerphilly.gov.uk  
Website: www.caerphilly.gov.uk/sab 

 
(vii) The applicant be advised: 

NOTIFICATION OF INITIATION OF DEVELOPMENT AND DISPLAY OF 
NOTICE:  
You must comply with your duties in section 71ZB (notification of initiation 
of development and display of notice: Wales) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. The duties include: 
 
Notice of initiation of development: 
Before beginning any development to which this planning permission 
relates, notice must be given to the local planning authority in the form set 
out in Schedule 5A to the town and Country Planning (development 
Management procedure) (Wales) Order 2012 or in a form substantially to 
the like effect. The form sets out the details which must be given to the 
local planning authority to comply with this duty. 

 
Display of Notice: 
The person carrying out the development to which this planning permission 
relates must display at or near the place where the development is being 
carried out, at all times when it is being carried out, a notice of this 
planning permission in the form set out in Schedule 5B to the Town and 
country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (Wales) Order 
2012 or in a form substantially to the like effect. The form sets out the 
details the person carrying out development must display to comply with 
this duty.  
 
The person carrying out the development must ensure the notice is: 
(a) Firmly affixed and displayed in a prominent place at or near the place 
where the development is being carried out; 

Page 6

http://www.caerphilly.gov.uk/sab


(b) Legible and easily visible to the public without having to enter the site; 
and 
(c) Printed on durable material. The person carrying out development 
should take reasonable steps to protect the notice (against it being 
removed, obscured or defaced) and, if need be, replace it. 

 
 

 
 

The meeting closed at 6.09 pm. 
 
 

 
Approved as a correct record and subject to any amendments or corrections agreed and 
recorded in the minutes of the meeting held on 16th August 2023, they were signed by the 
Chair. 
 
 
 
 
 

_______________________ 
CHAIR 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 8



Application Number: 22/0072/FULL 
 
Date Received: 22.02.2022 
 
Applicant: United Welsh 
 
Description and Location of Development: Erect residential development of 153 No. 
units with new access, landscaping, drainage arrangements and associated works - 
Land At Grid Ref 311809 189556 Windsor Way Abertridwr   
 
APPLICATION TYPE: Full Application 
 
SITE AND DEVELOPMENT 
 
Location: The application site is located at the former Windsor Colliery site, Windsor 
Way, Abertridwr. 
 
Site description: The application site is a largely level plateau of land created when the 
former colliery site was remediated in 2007. At that time an access was created to the 
site and that access also serves the Ysgol Ifor Bach Welsh Medium Primary School 
from the junction of Windsor Way with Caerphilly Road to the north east of the site. The 
site extends to approximately 3.2 hectares and is irregular shaped. Immediately to the 
north of the site is Ysgol Ifor Bach with the Ty'n Y Parc housing development to the 
north east. The other boundaries of the site are adjacent to parkland created by the 
remediation of the colliery site with open countryside further to the west and housing to 
the south west, south and east. A footpath and cycle route runs around the perimeter, 
connecting into the wider neighbourhood. 
 
Development: The application seeks full planning permission for residential 
development. The development will comprise of a total of 152 dwellings with a mixture 
of open market, social rented and shared ownership tenures being provided. There will 
be 29 No. 1 bed units, 52 No. 2 bed units and 71 No. 3 bed units, all of which will be 
housed within structures with a maximum of two storeys. The development also 
proposes a new access road into the site with a main spine road travelling from north to 
south. The majority of dwellings will be served by shared surfaces and private drives. 
Three areas of public open space are also proposed together with improved pedestrian 
and cycling links to the wider footpath network surrounding the site. 
 
Dimensions: The one bedroom apartment buildings measure 9.9m wide by 8.4m deep 
at ground floor and 7m deep at first floor by 8.7m high; 
The flats over garages (FOG's) measure 12m wide by 7.5m deep by 8.6m high; 
The 2 bed 4 person dwellings (Type C) measure 5.2m wide by 9m deep by 8.5m high; 
The 3 bed 5 person dwellings (Type D1) measure 5.7m wide by 9m deep by 8.7m high; 
and 
The 3 bed 5 person dwellings (Type D2) measure 8.8m wide by 7m deep by 8.3m high. 
 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



Materials: The dwellings will be finished in a mixture of render or face brickwork with 
timber cladding to some elevations. Roofs will be concrete tiles with upvc windows, 
doors and rainwater goods. Garden boundaries to public areas will be finished in 
brickwork or render to match the host dwelling, with close boarded fencing to internal 
boundaries. There will be 0.45m high knee rail fencing to all grassed areas on the edge 
of the site and 1.2m high railings to frontages along the main spine road. 
 
Ancillary development, e.g. parking: Each of the flats will have one parking space, with 
each of the dwellings having 2 spaces. All of the dwellings are to be fitted with air 
source heat pumps and will meet Welsh Design Quality Requirements (DQR). 
 
PLANNING HISTORY 2010 TO PRESENT None. 
 
POLICY 
 
Local Development Plan: Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan up to 
2021 - Adopted November 2010. 
 
Policies Within settlement limits and allocated for housing under Policy HG 1.72 
Windsor Colliery. 
 
Local Development Plan: SP3 (Development in the Southern Connections Corridor), 
SP4 (Settlement Strategy), SP5 (Settlement Boundaries), SP6 (Place Making), 
SP7(Planning Obligations), SP10 (Conservation of Natural Heritage), SP14(Total 
Housing Requirements), SP15(Affordable Housing Target), CW1 (Sustainable 
Transport, Accessibility and Social Inclusion), CW2 (Amenity), CW3 (Design 
Considerations: Highways), CW4 (Natural Heritage Protection), CW5 (Protection of the 
Water Environment), CW6 (Trees, Woodland and Hedgerow Protection), CW7 
(Protection of Open Space), CW8 (Protection of Community and Leisure Facilities), 
CW10 (Leisure and Open Space Provision), CW11 (Affordable Housing Planning 
Obligation) and CW15 (General Locational Constraints). 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance LDP 4 Trees and development provides relevant 
advice. 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance LDP 5 Car Parking Standards sets out parking 
requirements for all developments. 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance LDP 6 Building Better Places to Live gives advice on 
all levels of development. 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance LDP 8 Protection of Open Space confirms that for 
the purposes of development management, golf courses are to be considered as a 
leisure facility rather than public open space and therefore the applicable LDP policy in 
this instance is Policy CW8 'Protection of Community and Leisure Facilities.’ 
 

Page 10



National Policy: Planning Policy Wales 
 
2.27 states:- Planning authorities should ensure that social, economic, environmental 
and cultural benefits are considered in the decision-making process and assessed in 
accordance with the five ways of working to ensure a balanced assessment is carried 
out to implement the Well-being of Future Generations Act and the Sustainable 
Development Principle. There may be occasions when one benefit of a development 
proposal or site allocation outweighs others, and in such cases robust evidence should 
be presented to support these decisions, whilst seeking to maximise contributions 
against all the well-being goals. 
 
2.28 states:- Key factors in the assessment process include: Social Considerations, 
Economic Considerations, Cultural Considerations and Environmental Considerations. 
 
3.16 states:- Planning authorities should through a process of negotiation seek to 
improve poor or average developments which are not well designed, do not take 
account of their context and consider their place, or do not meet the objectives of good 
design. Where this cannot be achieved proposals should be rejected. However, they 
should not attempt to impose a particular architectural taste or style arbitrarily and 
should avoid inhibiting opportunities for innovative design solutions. If a decision maker 
considers that a planning application should not be approved because of design 
concerns they should ensure that these reasons are clearly articulated in their decision 
and justified with sufficient evidence. In the event of an appeal, in these circumstances, 
the Planning Inspectorate will need to examine the issues in detail and consider if the 
proposal meets the objectives of good design including the relationship between the site 
and its surroundings.  
 
3.55 states:- Previously developed (also referred to as brownfield) land (see definition 
overleaf) should, wherever possible, be used in preference to greenfield sites where it is 
suitable for development. In settlements, such land should generally be considered 
suitable for appropriate development where its re use will promote sustainability 
principles and any constraints can be overcome. It is recognised, however, that not all 
previously developed land is suitable for development. This may be, for example, 
because of its unsustainable location, the presence of protected species or valuable 
habitats or industrial heritage, or because it is highly contaminated. For sites like these it 
may be appropriate to secure remediation for nature conservation, amenity value or to 
reduce risks to human health. There may be instances where it may not be possible to 
develop sensitive uses on previously developed land without placing unnecessary 
constraints on adjacent existing businesses and activities which require that particular 
location. In such circumstances the agent of change principle will be a relevant 
consideration. 
 
3.56 states:- Planning authorities should work with landowners to ensure that suitably 
located previously developed sites are brought forward for development and to secure a 
coherent approach to their development. To incentivise the appropriate re-use of 
previously developed land, planning authorities should take a lead by considering and 

Page 11



identifying the specific interventions from the public and/or private sector necessary to 
assist in its delivery. This will normally support regeneration initiatives and land 
allocations in development plans and will include the need to raise awareness of risks 
as part of an effective de-risking strategy. This approach will inform the development of 
appropriate risk assessments and remediation strategies at the application level 
intended to safeguard new developments from the health and environmental risks 
arising from past land uses, such as contamination, old mine workings or former landfill 
sites. 
 
The Definition of Previously Developed Land is as follows:- 
 
Previously developed (also known as brownfield) land is that which is or was occupied 
by a permanent structure (excluding agricultural or forestry buildings) and associated 
fixed surface infrastructure. The curtilage (see note 1 below) of the development is 
included, as are defence buildings and land used for mineral extraction and waste 
disposal (see note 2 below) where provision for restoration has not been made through 
development management procedures. Excluded from the definition are:  
 
land and buildings currently in use for agricultural or forestry purposes;  
 
land which has not been developed previously, for example parks, recreation grounds, 
golf courses and allotments, even though these areas may contain certain urban 
features such as paths, pavilions and other buildings;  
 
land where the remains of any structure or activity have blended into the landscape over 
time so that they can reasonably be considered part of the natural surroundings;  
 
land which is species rich and biodiverse and may qualify as section 7 habitat' or be 
identified as having nature conservation value; and  
previously developed land subsequently put to an amenity use. 
 
4.11 states:- The planning system should enable people to access jobs and services 
through shorter, more efficient and sustainable journeys, by walking, cycling and public 
transport. By influencing the location, scale, density, mix of uses and design of new 
development, the planning system can improve choice in transport and secure 
accessibility in a way which supports sustainable development, increases physical 
activity, improves health and helps to tackle the causes of climate change and airborne 
pollution by:  
 
Enabling More Sustainable Travel Choices - measures to increase walking, cycling and 
public transport, reduce dependency on the car for daily travel;  
 
Network Management - measures to make best use of the available capacity, supported 
by targeted new infrastructure; and 
 

Page 12



Demand Management - the application of strategies and policies to reduce travel 
demand, specifically that of single-occupancy private vehicles. 
 
4.1.36 states:- The availability of public transport is an important part of ensuring a 
place is sustainable. It enables people to undertake medium and long journeys without 
being dependent on having access to a car. The planning system should facilitate this 
by locating development where there is, or can be, good access by public transport. The 
design, layout, density and mix of uses of a place are also fundamental to sustaining 
public transport services, and encouraging and enabling people to use them.  
 
4.1.37 states:- Planning authorities must direct development to locations most 
accessible by public transport. They should ensure that development sites which are 
well served by public transport are used for travel intensive uses, such as housing, jobs, 
shopping, leisure and services, reallocating their use if necessary. In rural areas, 
planning authorities should designate local service centres, or clusters of settlements 
where a sustainable functional linkage can be demonstrated, as the preferred locations 
for new development. 
 
4.1.40 states:- To encourage the use of Ultra Low Emission Vehicles (ULEVs), the 
planning system should encourage and support the provision of ULEV charging points 
as part of new development. 
 
6.4.3 states:- The planning system has a key role to play in helping to reverse the 
decline in biodiversity and increasing the resilience of ecosystems, at various scales, by 
ensuring appropriate mechanisms are in place to both protect against loss and to 
secure enhancement. Addressing the consequences of climate change should be a 
central part of any measures to conserve biodiversity and the resilience of ecosystems. 
Information contained in SoNaRR, Area Statements and species records from Local 
Environmental Record Centres should be taken into account. Development plan 
strategies, policies and development proposals must consider the need to:  
 
support the conservation of biodiversity, in particular the conservation of wildlife and 
habitats;  
 
ensure action in Wales contributes to meeting international responsibilities and 
obligations for biodiversity and habitats;  
 
ensure statutorily and non-statutorily designated sites are properly protected and 
managed;  
 
safeguard protected and priority species and existing biodiversity assets from impacts 
which directly affect their nature conservation interests and compromise the resilience 
of ecological networks and the components which underpin them, such as water and 
soil, including peat; and  
 

Page 13



secure enhancement of and improvements to ecosystem resilience by improving 
diversity, condition, extent and connectivity of ecological networks.  
 
6.4.4 states:- It is important that biodiversity and resilience considerations are taken into 
account at an early stage in both development plan preparation and when proposing or 
considering development proposals. Since these considerations are not confined by 
administrative boundaries they must be addressed strategically through consultation 
and collaboration with adjoining planning authorities and other bodies such as NRW and 
the third sector. All reasonable steps must be taken to maintain and enhance 
biodiversity and promote the resilience of ecosystems and these should be balanced 
with the wider economic and social needs of business and local communities. Where 
adverse effects on the environment cannot be avoided or mitigated, it will be necessary 
to refuse planning permission. 
 
National Planning Guidance contained in Technical Advice Note 12 - Design, and 
Technical Advice Note 15 - Development and Flood Risk. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
Did the application have to be screened for an EIA? Yes. 
 
Was an EIA required? No.  
 
COAL MINING LEGACY 
 
Is the site within an area where there are mining legacy issues? Yes but The Coal 
Authority is satisfied that an adequate assessment of the coal mining risks associated 
with this development has been carried out and subject to the imposition of a condition 
requiring that the development is carried out in accordance with approved remediation 
and mitigation measures the proposal is considered to be acceptable from a mining risk 
perspective. 
 
CONSULTATION 
 
Glamorgan-Gwent Archaeological Trust - No objection. 
 
Estates Manager - No objection 
 
CCBC Housing Enabling Officer - No objection. 
 
CCBC - 21st Century Schools Manager - No objection. 
 
Ecologist - No objection subject to a condition to secure bio diversity enhancement. 
 
Dwr Cymru - Provide advice to be conveyed to the developer. 
 

Page 14



Police Architectural Liaison Officer – No comments received. 
 
Natural Resources Wales - No objection subject to conditions. 
 
Western Power Distribution - Provide advice to be conveyed to the developer. 
 
Invasive Plant Species Officer - The site location plan associated with this application 
appears to include a section of the Nant Llan watercourse. This area is currently being 
treated with herbicide as part of the CCBC programme to address invasive non-native 
plant species. The area is heavily infested with both Japanese Knotweed and 
Himalayan Balsam. 
The site is included in the work programme for treatment in 2022 and will be subject to 
further herbicide treatment later this year. 
 
Chief Fire Officer - Provides advice to be conveyed to the developer. 
 
Parks And Countryside Operations Manager - Comments provided by the Council's 
Landscape Architect 
 
Environmental Health Manager - No objection subject to conditions. 
 
Senior Engineer (Drainage) - The development will require separate consent under the 
Land Drainage and SAB legislation. Advice is also provided to be conveyed to the 
developer. 
 
Senior Arboricultural Officer (Trees) - No objection subject to conditions. 
 
Landscape Architect - CCBC - Raises no objection but requests the submission of 
further details prior to the commencement of works on site. 
 
Heritage And Placemaking Officer - No objection. 
 
Waste Strategy And Operations Manager - No further comments received. 
 
Transportation Engineering Manager - CCBC - No objection subject to conditions. 
 
Placemaking Officer - Douglas McGlyn - Raises concern with regard to a lack of 
detailing on a number of plots at prominent locations and the siting of the electricity sub 
stations. 
 
ADVERTISEMENT 
 
Extent of advertisement: The application was advertised by means of a press notice, a 
site notice and neighbour letters. 
 
Response: 26 letters of objection were received. 

Page 15



Summary of observations: The objections are as follows:- 
 
1. The local highway network will not cope with the increase in traffic. The traffic survey 
was carried out during the pandemic and is not a true reflection of the traffic in the area. 
2. The local school will be unable to cope with the increased numbers. 
3. The local health facilities will be unable to cope with the increase in numbers. 
4. The site is home to wildlife and gives local people a place to walk and spend time 
with families. 
5. Possible instability from disturbance of the old coal tip. 
6. Unreliable public transport links. 
7. There is no need for more social housing in the Aber Valley. 
8. Potential anti-social behaviour as a result of the reduced amenity space. 
9. Impacts on air quality. 
10. Noise, dust and pollution during the construction phase. 
11. Loss of privacy to the properties in the Ty'n Y Parc estate. 
12. The suggested access into Ty'n Y Parc is unnecessary. 
13. Loss of view. 
 
SECTION 17 CRIME AND DISORDER ACT 
 
What is the likely effect of the determination of this application on the need for the Local 
Planning Authority to do all it reasonably can to prevent crime and disorder in its area? 
None. 
 
EU HABITATS DIRECTIVE 
 
Does the development affect any protected wildlife species? This application, and the 
preceding Outline Planning Application are supported by extensive ecological surveys 
and mitigation schemes. The impact on protected species has been fully considered 
and acceptable mitigation measures can be provided as part of any scheme. 
 
Is this development Community Infrastructure Levy liable? As the application proposes 
new residential development it is liable for CIL. However, as the site is located within a 
lower viability area that CIL is charged at £0 per square metre so the development 
would not be chargeable. 
 
ANALYSIS 
 
Policies: The application has been considered in accordance with national planning 
policy and guidance, local plan policy and supplementary planning guidance. This 
application seeks full planning permission for residential development in a mainly 
residential area within the defined settlement limits. The site is also allocated for 
housing in the LDP under Policy HG 1.72 and as such the principle of the development 
is acceptable in accordance with Policies SP3, SP5 and CW15 of the LDP. In that 
regard the main points to consider in the determination of this application are whether 
the design and layout of the development is acceptable having regard to the context, 

Page 16



whether there would be any unacceptable impacts on neighbouring land and whether 
the proposal is acceptable from a highway safety perspective. 
 
With regard to the first issue, it is considered that the relatively modern detailing and 
design of the proposed dwellings would depart from the traditional character of the 
dwellings in most traditional valleys scenarios, which are characterised by the use of 
stone and slate with some later alterations to render etc.. However, the area has also 
been subject of several more modern developments using more modern materials and 
design features and it is not considered that the more modern design of the dwellings 
would be unacceptable from a planning perspective. Moreover, taken in their own right it 
is considered that the proposed buildings incorporate a good design philosophy 
comparing favourably with the scale and pattern of development in the area, with a 
complimentary pattern of materials and architectural detailing which replicate features 
that can be found in both the traditional and modern dwellings in the area. 
 
However, it should be noted that the Placemaking Officer has raised concerns with 
regard to the lack of articulation to a number of plots that are located in prominent 
locations throughout the site and the siting of the sub stations within the open space 
areas. This issue has been discussed with the applicant and they have advised that 
amended plans will be produced but that these are unlikely to be available prior to the 
determination of any application. It is considered therefore, that it would be prudent to 
impose conditions requiring the submission of amended details in relation to these 
matters on any consent granted. 
 
In this respect it is considered that, subject to the imposition of conditions relating to the 
location of proposed substations and the design, materials and finishes of the dwellings 
referred to above, the proposal has sufficient regard for the context of the local, natural, 
historic and built features through a high standard of design that reinforces attractive 
qualities of local distinctiveness and as such complies with Criterion B of Policy SP6 of 
the LDP. 
 
With regard to the possible impacts of the development on neighbouring properties it is 
clear that local residents have raised significant concerns. The main points to consider 
from a planning perspective are whether the proposal would have a detrimental impact 
on terms of loss of privacy or whether there would be an unacceptable overbearing 
impact on the adjacent dwellings. In that regard it should be noted that the nearest 
residential properties to the application site are those on the Ty'n Y Parc estate to the 
north east. In this respect the properties at Nos. 39 and 40 Ty'n Y Parc, are sited closest 
to the proposed dwelling at Plot 130. This property is some 30m away, dwelling to 
dwelling, and is some 10m away from the rear boundary of the dwellings in Ty'n Y Parc. 
The dwellings at 41-44 Ty'n Y Parc, are some 46m away, dwelling to dwelling, and 25m 
dwelling to rear boundary. Finally with regard to the dwelling at No. 45 Ty'n y Parc, this 
is some 24m dwelling to dwelling and 13m dwelling to side boundary. In view of the 
above these separation distances are considered sufficient and the proposal would not, 
it is considered, have an unacceptable impact upon the amenity of neighbouring 
properties in terms of overlooking, overshadowing or overbearing impacts. 

Page 17



Concern has also been raised in respect of the new access road serving the 
development and the relationship with the dwellings at Nos. 45-56 Ty'n Y Parc. In that 
regard the proposed pavement is some 10m away from the rear boundaries of those 
dwellings and the highway is a further 9m away. In that regard it is considered that there 
is sufficient separation distance between the existing and proposed dwelling that there 
would be no unacceptable impact on the neighbouring dwellings which sufficient 
warrant refusal of the application. 
 
Further concerns have been raised in respect of the privacy of children at the adjacent 
school but it should be noted that the development is located some 21m away from the 
boundary of the school at the nearest point. In that regard it is considered that the 
proposal would be acceptable in terms of the impact on neighbouring properties and as 
such the proposal complies with Policy CW2 of the LDP. 
 
In respect of highway safety matters it is noted that the Transportation Engineering 
Manager raises no objection to this application subject to the imposition of conditions. 
 
It is noted that members of the public have raised concerns with regard to the Transport 
Assessment submitted with this application, in that it was conducted during the 
pandemic, and as such is not considered to represent an accurate reflection of the 
traffic issues in the area. However the Transportation Engineering Manager has 
assessed the report and considers it to be a robust document that accurately assess the 
highways impacts of the development and as such its findings should be considered in 
the determination of this application. 
 
Concerns have also been raised that the Redrow housing development at Hendredenny 
has already had a negative impact on the highway network such that it is now working 
beyond capacity. In that regard it should be recognised that, in his consideration of the 
appeal for the Hendredenny site, the Inspector noted that the Transport Statement 
supporting that application included a number of scenarios for increased traffic on the 
network, including an 11% increase in traffic flows at sensitive junctions. In noting that, 
the Transport Statement argued that there had actually been a stagnation in traffic flows 
in the preceding years from 2008 and as such an 11% increase was highly unlikely, the 
Inspector acknowledged that even an increase of that magnitude would not have an 
unacceptable impact on the highway network and as such the appeal was upheld. 
 
With regard to this development, it should be noted that the Transport Assessment 
acknowledges an increase in traffic flows at the junctions closest to the application site. 
However, it also suggests that the increases at junctions further afield would equate to 
less than 4%. Given the reasoning of the Inspector referred to above it is not considered 
that a refusal of this application on the basis of congestion on the highway network 
could be justified or supported at appeal. 
 
In terms of the internal layout of the site, Paragraphs 4.1.19 - 4.1.24 of Planning Policy 
Wales provide the following advice:- 
 

Page 18



4.1.19 Well-designed, people orientated streets are fundamental to creating sustainable 
places and increasing walking, cycling and use of public transport. New development 
should improve the quality of place and create safe, social, attractive streets where 
people want to walk, cycle and enjoy, and children can play. To make streets safer and 
more attractive places for people, the Welsh Government is making 20 mph the new 
default speed limit for most streets and taking measures to prevent pavement parking. 
 
4.1.20 The design and layout of streets must give a high priority to their role as public 
spaces and meeting the needs of pedestrians, cyclists and public transport users, 
reflecting the principles of the sustainable transport hierarchy. To create streets that are 
social places, the public realm needs to be safe and attractive and the street designed 
for low speeds of 20 mph or less. 
 
4.1.21 Well integrated green infrastructure, such as SUDS, street trees and verges, not 
only create a pleasant environment but can also achieve a range of other benefits, 
including pollutant filtering, urban cooling, water management and habitat creation. 
Such features should be included as part of a well-designed street layout. 
 
4.1.22 The Welsh Government policy, Manual for Streets and its companion guide 
Manual for Streets 221, requires that street design should not follow the conventional 
engineering-led approach. The design of new or enhanced streets should respond to 
urban design principles, including those in Manual for Streets and the Active Travel 
Design Guidance22, and not adhere to rigid standards. Design Bulletin 32: Residential 
Roads and Footpaths has been superseded by Manual for Streets. 
 
4.1.23 Planning authorities must ensure the design of streets contributes to the creation 
of high-quality places, which will require a multi-disciplinary approach, and should 
challenge development proposals with standardised, prescriptive, engineering-
focussed, risk-adverse street designs. 
 
4.1.24 In residential areas, Home Zones are a way in which streets can be designed to 
slow vehicular traffic speeds down and give priority to people over motorised uses. 
Local authorities should consider using powers available under the Transport Act 2000 
to designate Home Zones. 
 
In light of this advice, the layout of the site has been subject to significant discussion 
between the applicant and the Local Planning Authority. It is considered that the latest 
iteration of the site layout plan strikes an appropriate balance between providing a 
layout that is acceptable from a highway safety perspective whilst having regard for 
Placemaking principles. In that regard it is considered that the design of the internal 
layout of the site responds to the above guidance creating a design that is not 
dominated by the car and creates a sense of place that does not follow the traditional 
engineering led approach to highway layout and instead gives greater priority to the 
individual over the car. 
 

Page 19



Finally, it should be noted that the proposal has full regard for the guidance contained in 
Supplementary Planning Guidance LDP5 Car Parking Standards and adequate parking 
is provided throughout the site. Therefore, it is considered that the proposal is 
acceptable in highway safety terms and complies with Policy CW3 of the LDP. 
 
Policy CW11 of the LDP requires the provision of affordable housing on all sites of 5 
dwellings or more or with a site area exceeding 0.15 hectares. The Policy also sets 
targets for the provision of 10% of the units on a site to be affordable in the Caerphilly 
Basin Area. Notwithstanding that the application proposes a significantly higher level of 
affordable housing, the applicant has provided information that establishes that such 
provision is only achievable subject to Social Housing Grant (SHG) from Welsh 
Government. The supporting text to Policy CW11 makes it clear that the suggested 
targets assume that no SHG is available and that the targets are indicative as factors 
such as viability will have an impact on what is achievable on each site. In that it has 
been established that the development would be unviable in the absence of SHG it is 
not possible for the affordable housing units to be secured through the planning system 
either via a legal agreement under Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 or via a condition attached to this consent. Nevertheless, the proposal does 
comply with Policy CW11 as the lack of viability has been established. 
 
In relation to housing need, Policy SP14 of the LDP made provision for 10,269 new 
dwellings in the County Borough between 2006 and 2021 in order to deliver the 8,625 
new dwellings required to meet the moderate growth strategy of the LDP. This equated 
to an annual requirement of 575 dwellings per annum. The most recent Annual 
Monitoring Report (AMR) of the LDP was approved in October 2022 and includes a 
housing trajectory of the 15-year plan period up to 2021 plus 6 years (see Appendix 1 of 
AMR). This shows that the number of dwellings completed has been below the annual 
requirement of 575 dwellings per annum since 2008/09 and is forecast to continue to be 
below this requirement for most years up to 2026/27. The affordable housing target of 
delivering at least 964 affordable units between 2006 and 2021 (Policy SP15) has also 
not been met and the AMR continues to recommend that proposals for residential 
development should be considered on their relative merits on a site-by-site basis, 
having regard to the need to increase the housing land supply. 
 
Policy CW10 of the LDP states that on sites of 10 dwellings or more adequate leisure 
and open space provision should be provided. In that regard the Council's Landscape 
Architect, on behalf of the Parks Service has suggested that the proposed provision 
would be adequate in that regard. In order to ensure that this is provided and 
maintained in perpetuity, a legal agreement under Section 106 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 will be required. As the application site is currently in Council 
ownership it is not anticipated that the agreement would be signed prior to the 
determination of any application but would instead be signed upon transfer of the land 
to the applicant. 
 
The proposed housing development would provide 152 residential units with a mixture 
of open market and social housing tenures. It is considered that the proposed 

Page 20



development would make a much-needed contribution to the supply of land for housing 
to help address the shortfall of houses being delivered elsewhere within the County 
Borough, and accordingly, the proposal would meet the requirements of Policies SP14 
and SP15. It is also noted that the site is allocated for this use in the LDP. 
 
Comments from Consultees: No objections were received from consultees. Whilst it is 
noted that Natural Resources Wales have referred to conditions relating to land 
drainage, it should be noted that this is now covered under separate legislation and as 
such cannot be controlled here. 
 
The concerns of the Council's Landscape Architect in respect of the lack of detail of 
landscaping throughout the site are noted. It is agreed that the details submitted to date 
lack sufficient detail to make the proposal acceptable. However, this issue can be 
adequately addressed by a condition attached to any consent granted. 
 
Comments from public: The concerns are addressed in turn below:- 
 
1. The local highway network will not cope with the increase in traffic. The traffic survey 
was carried out during the pandemic and is not a true reflection of the traffic in the area 
- This matter is considered in depth above. 
 
2. The local school will be unable to cope with the increased numbers - The Head of 
Education Planning and Strategy has raised no objections to the application and has 
confirmed that there is capacity in all of the catchment schools. 
 
3. The local health facilities will be unable to cope with the increase in numbers - This is 
not a material consideration which can be given any significant weight in the 
determination of this application. It is a matter for the Local Heath Board to ensure that 
adequate provision is made within an area. 
 
4. The site is home to wildlife and gives local people a place to walk and spend time 
with families - as stated above, the application is supported by an ecological survey 
which confirms that no protected species would be affected by the development. 
Subject to the imposition of a condition requiring ecological mitigation/enhancement, the 
proposal is considered to be acceptable from an ecological perspective. 
 
5. Possible instability from disturbance of the old coal tip - There is no evidence to 
suggest that the development would cause any instability to the surrounding properties. 
In order to secure compliance with the Building Regulations a Site Investigation would 
be required to establish what, if any special measures are required to mitigate any 
potential risks to future properties from such instability and it is incumbent on the 
developer to comply with such measures. 
 
6. Unreliable public transport links - Again it should be noted that the Transportation 
Engineering Manager has raised no objection to the application. Therefore, and whilst 

Page 21



the development is not reliant on public transport to make it acceptable in planning 
terms, it is not considered that this matter would warrant refusal of this application. 
 
7. There is no need for more social housing in the Aber Valley - The need for housing in 
the area is addressed above. 
 
8. Potential anti-social behaviour as a result of the reduced amenity space - There is no 
evidence to suggest that the development would lead to an increase in anti-social 
behaviour and in any event this is not a material planning consideration in this instance. 
 
9. Impacts on air quality - The application is supported by an Air Quality Impact 
Assessment. This assessment has been considered by the Head of Public Health and is 
considered to be a robust document and the findings are therefore considered 
acceptable. In that regard it is not considered that the proposal would have any 
detrimental impacts in terms of air quality. 
 
10. Noise, dust and pollution during the construction phase - It is inevitable during any 
construction scheme that there will be an element of disruption to local residents. 
However, given the nature of this scheme and the timespan of construction works in 
relation to the lifespan of the proposed dwellings, it is considered that such disturbance 
would be a small and transient part of the overall development. Notwithstanding this, 
some elements of the development would be controlled by other legislation and it is also 
possible to impose a condition to any consent granted requiring the submission of a 
Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP). This document would provide 
controls over elements of the construction process in order to mitigate the impacts to 
local residents to acceptable planning levels. In terms of the contamination on site, the 
submitted site investigation sets out a method for dealing with this and this has been 
assessed by the Council's Head of Public Health. The method is considered to be 
acceptable and there is no reason to believe that there would be any risks to human 
health as result of the works. 
 
11. Loss of privacy to the properties in the Ty'n Y Parc estate - This is addressed above. 
 
12. The suggested access into Ty'n Y Parc is unnecessary - The latest iteration of the 
site layout does not propose an access directly to the Ty'n Y Parc estate. 
 
13. Loss of view - This is not a material planning consideration. 
Other material considerations: The duty to improve the economic, social, environmental 
and cultural well-being of Wales, has been considered in accordance with the 
sustainable development principle, under section 3 of the Well-Being of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 2015. In reaching the recommendation below, the ways of 
working set out at section 5 of that Act have been taken into account, and it is 
considered that the recommendation is consistent with the sustainable development 
principle as required by section 8 of that Act. 
 

Page 22



Future Wales - The National Plan 2040 was published on 24 February 2021 and forms 
part of the statutory development plan for the county borough.  In addition to this 
Planning Policy Wales (PPW) has been amended to take account of Future Wales and 
PPW Edition 11 has also been published on 24th February 2021.  In reaching the 
conclusion below full account has been taken of both Future Wales and PPW Edition 11 
and where they are particularly pertinent to the consideration of the proposals they have 
been considered as part of the officer's report. It is considered that the 
recommendation(s) in respect of the proposals is (are) in conformity with both Future 
Wales and PPW Edition 11. 
 
In conclusion it is considered that the proposed development is acceptable in planning 
terms and it complies with the policies contained in the LDP. The design and layout of 
the development is considered to be acceptable subject to conditions and it is not 
considered that the proposal would have a detrimental impact on the amenity of the 
area or on highway safety. 
 
The proposal would make an important contribution to the provision of housing within 
the County Borough and, notwithstanding that it cannot be secured via the planning 
system, a significant proportion of the dwellings would be provided as affordable units. 
 
RECOMMENDATION that the application be approved subject to conditions. 
 
This permission is subject to the following condition(s) 
 
01) The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of five 

years from the date of this permission. 
 REASON: To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990. 
 
02) The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved 

plans and documents: 17062 (05) 101 Rev. X (Site Development Plan); 
 17062 (05) 103 Rev. H (Site Materials Layout); 
 17062 (05) 104 Rev. H (Site Tenure Housing Plan); 
 17062 (05) 105 Rev. H (Refuse Management Plan); 
 17062 (05) 108 Rev. H (Phasing Plan); 
 17062 (05) 109 Rev. H (Enclosures Plan); 
 17062 (05) 111 Rev. E (Proposed Street Elevations (Sheet 1 of 2)); 
 17062 (05) (Proposed Street Elevations (Sheet 2 of 2)); 
 17062 (05) 120 (Boundary Type A); 
 17062 (05) 121 (Boundary Type B); 
 17062 (05) 122 (Boundary Type C); 
 17062 (05) 123 (Boundary Type F); 
 17062 (05) 124 (Boundary Type D); 
 17062 (05) 200 A (House Type C); 
 17062 (05) 205 A (House Type D1); 
 17062 (05) 206 A (House Type D1 (Render)); 

Page 23



 17062 (05) 2010 A (House Type D2 (Brick)); 
 17062 (05) 211 A (House Type D2 (Render)); 
 17062 (05) 215 A (Flat - 1B2P Walk Up (Brick)); 
 17062 (05) 216 A (Flat - 1B2P Walk Up (Render)); 
 17062 (05) 220 (2B4P FOG); 
 17062 (05) 235 (2B4P (SR SO) Option 1); 
 17062 (05) 236 (2B4P (SR SO) Option 2); 
 17062 (05) 240 (2B5P (SR SO) Option 1); 
 17062 (05) 200 (2B5P (SR SO) Option 2); 
 CC2123-CAM-ZZ-XX-GA-C_0102 Rev. P05 (Refuse Vehicle Tracking Sheet 1 of 

4); 
 CC2123-CAM-ZZ-XX-GA-C_0103 Rev. P05 (Refuse Vehicle Tracking Sheet 1 of 

4); 
 CC2123-CAM-ZZ-XX-GA-C_0104 Rev. P05 (Refuse Vehicle Tracking Sheet 1 of 

4); 
 CC2123-CAM-ZZ-XX-GA-C_0105 Rev. P05 (Refuse Vehicle Tracking Sheet 1 of 

4); 
 Archaeological Desk-Based Assessment; 
 Drainage Strategy Report; 
 Amended Site Investigation Report; 
 Preliminary Ecological Assessment; 
 Stage 2 Ecology Report; 
 Topographical Land Survey; 
 Arboricultural Report including Tree Survey Data & Tree Constraints Plan (TCP); 
 Transport Assessment March 2023; 
 Air Quality Assessment; and 
 Parking Matrix. 
 REASON: To ensure that the development is carried out only as approved by the 

Local Planning Authority. 
 
03) Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) Order 1995 (or any order revoking and re-enacting that 
order with or without modification), the means of vehicular access to the 
development hereby approved shall be from Windsor Way only. 

 REASON: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with policy CW3 of 
the adopted Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan up to 2021. 

 
04) Prior to the commencement of development, other than ground remediation 

works, a travel plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority and thereafter implemented in accordance with any 
timescales contained therein. 

 REASON: To encourage the use of a variety of transport options in accordance 
with policy CW3 of the adopted Caerphilly County Borough Local Development 
Plan up to 2021. 

 

Page 24



05) Prior to the commencement of development, other than ground remediation 
works, a scheme shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority indicating full engineering details of the road layout with 
sections, street-lighting and surface water drainage and a detailed programme 
for the provision of the proposed highways. The development shall be carried out 
in accordance with the agreed details. 

 REASON: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with policy CW3 of 
the adopted Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan up to 2021. 

 
06) Prior to the commencement of works on site, a scheme to prevent mud and other 

debris being deposited on the public highway, shall be submitted to and agreed 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the agreed scheme. 

 REASON: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with policy CW3 of 
the adopted Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan up to 2021. 

 
07) Prior to the commencement of the development a Working Method Statement to 

control the environmental effects of the demolition and construction work shall be 
submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

 The scheme shall include: 
 (i) control of noise, 
 (ii) control of dust, smell and other effluvia, 
 (iii) control of surface water run off, 
 (iv) site security arrangements including hoardings, 
 (v) proposed method of piling for foundations, 
 (vi) construction and demolition working hours, 
 (vii) hours during the construction and demolition phase, when delivery vehicles 

or vehicles taking materials are allowed to enter or leave the site. 
 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved scheme 

or as may otherwise be agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
 REASON: In the interests of the amenity of the area in accordance with policy 

CW2 of the adopted Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan up to 
2021. 

 
08) Prior to the commencement of the development a scheme shall be submitted to 

and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, to accommodate: 
 (a) Parking of vehicles of site personnel, operatives and visitors, 
 (b) Loading and unloading of plant and vehicles, 
 (c) Storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development, 
 (d) Wheel cleaning facilities  
 and each facility shall be retained throughout the course of construction of the 

development, free from any impediment to its designated use. No other areas on 
the site, other than those in the approved scheme shall be used for the purposes 
listed (a) to (d) above without the prior written agreement of the Local Planning 
Authority. 

Page 25



 REASON: In the interests of amenity and highway safety in accordance with 
policy CW2 of the adopted Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan 
up to 2021. 

 
09) Prior to the commencement of development, other than ground remediation 

works, a specification of all proposed tree planting shall be submitted to and 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This specification will include 
details of the quantity, size, species, position and the proposed time of planting of 
all trees to be planted, together with an indication of how they integrate with the 
proposal in the long term with regard to their mature size and anticipated routine 
maintenance. In addition all shrubs and hedges to be planted that are intended to 
achieve a significant size and presence in the landscape should be similarly 
specified. All tree, shrub and hedge planting included within that specification 
shall be carried out in accordance with that specification and in accordance with 
BS3936 (parts 1, 1992, Nursery Stock, Specification for trees and shrubs, and 4, 
1984, Specification for forest trees); BS4043, 1989, Transplanting root-balled 
trees; and BS4428, 1989, Code of practice for general landscape operations 
(excluding hard surfaces). 

 REASON: In the interests of visual amenity in accordance with policies CW2 and 
CW6 of the adopted Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan up to 
2021. 

 
10) Prior to the commencement of the development a scheme depicting hard and 

soft landscaping shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Those details shall include:  

 (a) Proposed finished ground levels or contours; means of enclosure; car parking 
layouts; other vehicle and pedestrian access and circulation areas; hard 
surfacing materials; minor structures including furniture, play equipment, refuse 
or other storage units; and 

 (b) Proposed and existing functional services above and below ground (e.g. 
drainage, power, communications cables, pipelines etc. indicating lines, 
manholes etc.); and 

 (c) Planting plans; written specifications (including cultivation and other 
operations associated with plant and grass establishment); schedules of plants, 
noting species, plant sizes and proposed numbers/densities where appropriate. 

 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the agreed scheme and 
all planting, seeding, turfing/hard landscaping works comprised in the approved 
details of landscaping shall be carried out in the first planting season following 
the occupation of the buildings or the completion of the development, whichever 
is the sooner. Any trees or plants which within a period of 5 years from the 
completion of the development die, are removed or become seriously damaged 
or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar 
size and species, unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to 
any variation. 

Page 26



 REASON: In the interests of the visual amenity of the area in accordance with 
policies CW2 and SP6 of the adopted Caerphilly County Borough Local 
Development Plan up to 2021. 

 
11) A Landscape Management Plan, including  
 (a) long term design objectives, 
 (b) management responsibilities, and  
 (c) maintenance schedules for all landscape areas, other than domestic gardens, 

shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior 
to the occupation of the development or any phase of the development, 
whichever is the sooner, for its permitted use.  

 The Landscape Management Plan shall be carried out as agreed. 
 REASON: To ensure that the landscaping is maintained in the interests of the 

visual amenity of the area in accordance with policies CW2 and SP6 of the 
adopted Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan up to 2021. 

 
12) Prior to the construction of the foundations of the development hereby approved 

details showing the finished floor levels of the buildings hereby approved in 
relation to a fixed datum point off-site shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority and the development shall be carried out 
in accordance with the approved details. 

 REASON: In the interests of the residential of the area in accordance with policy 
CW2 of the adopted Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan up to 
2021. 

 
13) Prior to the commencement of development, a biodiversity strategy shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
strategy shall include details for site clearance (reptiles), hedgehog access, bird 
breeding, ecological enhancements and site clearance protection and provision 
and a timetable for the provision of such. The development shall thereafter be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

 REASON: To secure biodiversity conservation and enhancement, in accordance 
with Part 1 Section 6 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016, and policy contained 
in Welsh Assembly Government's Planning Policy Wales (2016) and Tan 5 
Nature Conservation and Planning (2009). 

 
14) If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be 

present at the site, then no further development (unless otherwise agreed in 
writing with the Local Planning Authority) shall be carried out until a remediation 
strategy detailing how this unsuspected contamination shall be dealt with has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
remediation strategy shall be carried out as approved. 

 REASON: In the interests of public health and in accordance with Policy CW2 of 
the Caerphilly County Borough Local Development Plan up to 2021. 

 

Page 27



15) Prior to the construction of the external surfaces of the development hereby 
approved details of the materials to be used, in electronic or printed format shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

 REASON: In the interests of the visual amenity of the area. 
 
16) Notwithstanding the approved plans, revised plans of the dwellings on Plots 1, 63 

and 108 shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority, prior to the commencement of the construction of those dwellings. The 
revised plans shall provide for detailing of the side elevations of those dwellings 
facing the principal highway through the site. The development shall thereafter 
be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

 REASON: In the interests of good design and in order to ensure compliance with 
Placemaking Principles in accordance with Policy SP6 of the Caerphilly County 
Borough Local Development Plan up to 2021 - Adopted November 2010. 

 
17) The consent hereby granted shall not extend to the locations shown on the Site 

Development Plan in respect of the Sub Stations, revised details of which shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to 
the commencement of any construction works on site. The development shall 
thereafter be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

 REASON: In the interests of good design and in order to ensure compliance with 
Placemaking Principles in accordance with Policy SP6 of the Caerphilly County 
Borough Local Development Plan up to 2021 - Adopted November 2010. 

 
18) The development hereby approved shall make provision for gigabit capable 

broadband infrastructure to serve all of the approved dwellings. The necessary 
infrastructure required shall be installed prior to the first occupation of the 
dwellings. 

 REASON: To provide the necessary infrastructure to serve the development in 
accordance with Policy 13 of Future Wales: The National Plan 2040. 

 
Advisory Note(s) 
 
The applicant should be made aware that any off site proposals will require highway 
licences/agreement and no work shall be undertaken on or adjacent to the adopted 
highway until such have been agreed in writing and therefore it is advised that the 
applicant discuss requirements as soon as possible after planning permission is 
granted. 
  
The applicant should be made aware that the proposed off site works may require a 
Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) and as such the cost of such order will be borne by the 
applicant.  Full details should be discussed with Highway officers once permission is 
granted. 
 
 

Page 28



22/0072/FULL 

 

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 30


	Agenda
	3 Planning Committee held on 12th July 2023.
	4 Application No. 22/0072/FULL - Land At Grid Ref 311809 189556, Windsor Way, Abertridwr.
	Application No. 22/0072/FULL - Land at Grid Ref 311809 189556, Windsor Way, Abertridwr - Site Plan


